RECEIVED

Dec 12 2025

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

S.C. SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Berkeley County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

JERALD JERMAINE HOWARD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001319

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

MOLLY M. KEEGAN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress or object to the warrantless extraction of petitioner's cellphone because the warrantless search violated the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures as he had a reasonable expectation of privacy to the contents of his cellphone and where he was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance?

## STATEMENT

In April of 2019, the Berkeley County grand jury indicted petitioner for murder and destruction, desecration, or removal of human remains. App. 797-800. On July 14, 2019, petitioner proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis. App. 1. James W. Smiley, IV, represented petitioner. App. 2. Bryan Alfaro and Bart Stegall prosecuted the case for the state. App. 2. The jury found petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 640, ll. 13-24. Judge Dennis imposed a life sentence as to the murder charge and ten years concurrent as to the desecration charge. App. 653, ll. 12-13. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, however, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed petitioner's appeal at his request. App. 801-804.

On May 7, 2020, petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 655-61. On February 22, 2021, the state filed a return and motion for more definite statement. App. 662-72. On August 25, 2021, petitioner filed an amended application for PCR adding several grounds for relief. App. 673-80. On December 20, 2021, the state filed an amended return. App. 687-701. Thereafter, on October 17, 2022, Sarah Grass Drawdy, on behalf of petitioner, filed a motion to add three additional grounds for PCR relief. App. 681-86. On June 26, 2023, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis. App. 702-78. Sarah G. Drawdy and Bruce A. Byrholdt represented petitioner, and Danielle Dixon represented the state. App. 702. On July 1, 2025, Judge Curtis signed an order denying PCR and dismissing petitioner's application with prejudice. App. 779-96.

This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress or object to the warrantless extraction of petitioner's cellphone because the warrantless search violated the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures as he had a reasonable expectation of privacy to the contents of his cellphone and where he was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Trial*

During petitioner's trial, the state presented evidence that sometime between February 17, 2014 and February 24, 2014, Nicole Goodlett went missing and was subsequently killed. App. 143, ll. 15-17; 146, l. 18 – 147, l. 4; *see also* App. 797-800. The state presented evidence that the last phone call Goodlett's brother, Daniel Goodlett, had with her was on February 17, 2014. App. 143, ll. 13-17. After that conversation, he received texts from Goodlett's phone that were different from how she normally texted. App. 144, l. 9 – 146, l. 8. He contacted his father, and they decided they were going to check on Goodlett which led to them filing a missing person's report. App. 146, l. 11 – 147, l. 17. A missing person's report was filed for Goodlett on March 12, 2014. App. 157, ll. 4-11. Several witnesses testified about their last communications with Goodlett and texts they received that did not sound like Goodlett. App. 171, l. 19 – 174, l. 10; 261, l. 1 – 263, l. 12; 269, l. 14 – 273, l. 24; 382, ll. 3-14. However, the state did not present evidence of how Goodlett died, where Goodlett died, or when Goodlett died. App. 342, ll. 14-22; 135, ll. 12-17. Particularly, the elected coroner could determine neither the manner nor the cause of death. App. 483, l. 13 – 484, l. 4.

Goodlett and petitioner were in a relationship and had twins together. App. 143, ll. 2-4; 159, ll. 11-13; 261, ll. 13-23; 265, ll. 1-7; 288, ll. 20-24. They lived together in Spartanburg, South Carolina. App. 191, ll. 4-9.

During the investigation, officer Michael Nix executed a search warrant for a blue Jeep that had a West End Auto paper tag on the back of it. App. 353, ll. 11-24. He recovered an iPhone 4 in a black case from the center console area of the Jeep. App. 354, ll. 10-15. The state entered the black iPhone 4 as State's Exhibit 12 into evidence, without objection from trial counsel. App. 357, ll. 3-11. On March 27, 2014, Lindsey McGraw conducted a phone extraction of the iPhone 4 using Cellebrite. App. 360, l. 25 – 362, l. 1; 365, l. 11. She determined that the registered user associated with the phone was petitioner, by both his Apple ID and phone number. App. 362, ll. 2-22. She generated an electronic report which she gave to the investigator. App. 363, ll. 19-22.

William Gary, a senior investigator, testified concerning petitioner's statements which were made on March 20 and March 26, 2014. App. 293, ll. 17-25. During a March 26, 2014, interview, petitioner was asked about an iPhone 4. App. 308, ll. 3-10. Gary testified that petitioner said that he no longer had the phone, the screen was cracked, and that it must be in the trash. App. 308, ll. 10-13. Gary testified that he had a search warrant for petitioner's Jeep Cherokee that was purchased on February 18th. App. 308, ll. 16-21. The iPhone 4 was located, and Gary received a report related to a search of the iPhone 4. App. 317, ll. 18-24. He received a phone extraction report from Lindsey McGraw and reviewed the report. App. 319, ll. 16-21. The state entered excerpts from the web browser history of petitioner's iPhone 4 from the extraction report. App. 321, l. 20 – 322, l. 11. Gary detailed the following searches: "Cainhoy Elementary School" and "Huger, South Carolina," on February 24, 2014; "Huger News" in

Huger, South Carolina, “Breaking News,” and “Huger, South Carolina news,” on February 26, 2014; “Berkeley County, South Carolina and Huger, South Carolina news,” on February 27, 2014; “Huger, South Carolina news,” on March 1, 2014; and “Berkeley County news,” on March 2, 2014. App. 323, l. 11 – 324, l. 16. Then, on March 3, 2014, the following searches were made: “can you identify a burned body,” “how authorities identify a burned body,” and “burned body cases solvable challenge for investigators.” App. 324, ll. 18-23. There were no searches for Cainhoy Elementary School, Huger news, Berkeley County news, or Spartanburg news prior to February 24, 2014. App. 325, ll. 14-25.

Later, on November 26, 2015, a human skull and bones were discovered behind Cainhoy Elementary School. App. 343, l. 18 – 344, l. 3; App 430, ll. 1-7, 14-24. The hunter who found the skull reported his findings on November 27, 2015. App. 433, ll. 6-8. The skull and bones were identified as Goodlett’s. App. 343, ll. 21-23; App. 463, ll. 2-4; 527, ll. 7-10. The state’s forensic anthropology expert testified that 55-to-60% of the skeleton was recovered and found evidence that the body was burned while it still had flesh on it. App. 529, ll. 8-24.

After the state rested its case, trial counsel moved for a directed verdict as to both charges. App. 549, l. 10 – 550, l. 3. Primarily, trial counsel argued that the state failed to establish an essential element of the murder charge – malice aforethought. App. 550, l. 4 – 551, l. 25. The trial court denied trial counsel’s directed verdict motion finding that “the nature of the conduct after is what leads to” the malicious conclusion. App. 557, ll. 8-10.

In the state’s closing argument, the state reiterated that “this case is a circumstantial evidence case.” App. 574, ll. 4-5. The state also highlighted the iPhone that was recovered from the search of petitioner’s Jeep. App. 586, ll. 3-20. It emphasized the extraction that was

conducted for petitioner's cellphone and went through, in detail, each Google search that petitioner made. App. 586, l. 21 – 589, l. 14.

The jury ultimately returned a verdict of guilty as indicted. App. 640, ll. 13-24. Judge Dennis imposed a life sentence as to the murder charge and ten years concurrent as to the desecration charge. App. 653, ll. 12-13.

#### *Evidentiary hearing*

During his post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing, petitioner testified that his trial counsel never challenged the phone records entered at trial and did not discuss challenging the search warrant with him. App. 713, ll. 19-25. He did not recall trial counsel moving to suppress any of the evidence related to the cellphones during pretrial hearings. App. 714, ll. 1-7. He further testified that without the phone records, there was no evidence against him. App. 716, ll. 8-10. On cross-examination, petitioner testified that the cellphone record showed both phones pinging. App. 721, ll. 10-24. He agreed that Goodlett used one of the phones, although both were registered in his name to his Verizon account. App. 721, l. 18 – 722, l. 4. He agreed that the phones pinged together both before and after Goodlett went missing. App. 722, ll. 5-9. He also agreed that the phones pinged together in the Lowcountry area. App. 722, ll. 12-15. He recalled that evidence was introduced at trial of Google searches like “Can they identify a burned body” which were found in his cellphone. App. 723, ll. 8-16. On redirect examination, petitioner reaffirmed that trial counsel never challenged the phone records including the Google searches. App. 724, ll. 8-19.

Petitioner called Jody Black, a retired law enforcement officer, who was retained to assist in reviewing the records in petitioner's case. App. 727, ll. 12-13. He testified that law enforcement obtained a “broad-spectrum” search warrant for a car, certain other items, and a

phone. App. 729, ll. 9-12. He explained that, in his experience, a specific warrant is needed for each item, and thus, a certain search warrant to give permission by the court to extract information would be needed. App. 729, ll. 13-23. He testified that he did not see any information specific to a cellphone to extract information in this case. App. 729, ll. 23-25. He could not find any record that the state had requested permission from the court to extract the information from the cellphone itself. App. 730, ll. 8-11.

Then, during cross-examination, trial counsel testified that the phone records were a big part of the state's case. App. 745, l. 25 – 746, l. 10. He explained that he never filed a motion to suppress the phone record evidence, and he did not review the search warrants in the case. App. 746, ll. 11-16. He agreed he did not challenge the pings that showed the phones traced together from North Carolina down to Berkeley County. App. 750, ll. 1-4. He further testified that he “didn’t do anything with the search warrants, quite frankly. It wasn’t the focus of [his] case.” App. 750, ll. 22-23. He reiterated that he did not challenge the search warrants, but he did not see something that “threw a big red flag” at him. App. 750, l. 24 – 751, l. 4. On redirect examination, he explained that the cellphone pings were from subpoenaed phone records that the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) used to do their triangulation. App. 761, ll. 12-22.

PCR counsel then argued that trial counsel testified that he only glanced at the search warrants and emphasized that search warrants were very important in a murder case. App. 765, ll. 9-11. PCR counsel highlighted that there should be a search warrant for the contents of a cellphone, and in petitioner's case, an extraction occurred without a challenge to the lack of a search warrant. App. 765, ll. 12-19. PCR counsel argued that there was no legal way to get the contents of the cellphone without a subsequent search warrant for the contents of the cellphone. App. 767, ll. 1-7. PCR counsel concluded that trial counsel's performance was ineffective, and

had he kept the contents of the cellphone out, there would have been a different outcome. App. 770, ll. 6-15.

*The PCR court's ruling*

In its order of dismissal, the PCR court determined that petitioner failed to prove that counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress evidence from a cellphone seized without a warrant at the detention center or that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the warrantless extraction of a cellphone. App. 793. The PCR court found that the seizure of the phone at the detention center did not violate the Fourth Amendment, and that, to the extent he contended that there was a warrantless extraction, the phone from the detention center was not the phone that was extracted. App. 793. The PCR court noted that no search warrants were entered during the evidentiary hearing, so the court was left to speculate about whether the warrants were sufficient for extraction. App. 794. The PCR court concluded that petitioner failed to meet the burden of proving a Fourth Amendment violation related to the extraction of the iPhone 4. App. 794.

The PCR court then found that, even assuming that the warrants did not cover extraction, petitioner did not prove that law enforcement violated his Fourth Amendment rights. App. 794. Specifically, it determined that petitioner abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy on the iPhone 4 due to his statement to police that the screen was cracked, and it must be in the trash. App. 794. The PCR court concluded that petitioner failed to prove a Fourth Amendment violation, and thus, did not prove deficiency or prejudice. App. 794. In addition, the PCR court noted that the extraction was performed on March 27, 2014, which was before the United States Supreme Court decided *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373 (June 25, 2014). App. 795. Due to this, the PCR court found that McGraw acted in good faith because the law was far from settled

as to the necessity of obtaining a warrant to search a cell phone, citing to *State v. Moore*, 429 S.C. 465, 483, 839 S.E.2d 882, 891 (2020). App. 795. Therefore, the PCR court determined that petitioner failed to show a reasonable probability the outcome would have been different if counsel challenged the cellphone extraction, and thus, denied petitioner's claim. App. 795.

### **Discussion**

The PCR court erred by refusing to find trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress or object to the warrantless extraction of petitioner's cellphone because the warrantless search violated the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures as he had a reasonable expectation of privacy to the contents of his cellphone and he did not abandon his cellphone, which ultimately prejudiced petitioner.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. A petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient" and fell below reasonable professional norms, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the petitioner. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Under the second prong, petitioner must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different." *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 245, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018) (citing *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 577, 785 S.E.2d 350, 353 (2016)).

Through its exclusionary rule, the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution provides protection against unlawful searches and seizures. *See* S.C. Const. art. I, 10. Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment is excluded in both state and federal court. *See Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961); *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001).

Thus, under the Fourth Amendment, individuals are free from unreasonable searches and seizures by the government. *State v. German*, 439 S.C. 449, 461, 887 S.E.2d 912, 918 (2023) (citing *State v. McCall*, 429 S.C. 404, 409, 839 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2020)). Further, a “warrantless search is unreasonable per se, unless it falls within a recognized exception to the warrant requirement.” *Id.* (citing *Riley v. California*, 573 U.S. 373, 382 (2014)). As relevant, abandonment is a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* (citing *State v. Counts*, 413 S.C. 153, 163, 776 S.E.2d 59, 65 (2015)). In such cases, “the *burden is upon the State to justify a warrantless search.*” *State v. Bailey*, 276 S.C. 32, 35, 274 S.E.2d 913, 915 (1981) (emphasis added).

However, abandoned property “has no protection from either the search or seizure provisions of the Fourth Amendment.” *State v. Brown*, 423 S.C. 519, 522, 815 S.E.2d 761, 763 (2018). Under an abandonment analysis, “the question is whether the defendant has, in discarding the property, relinquished his reasonable expectation of privacy.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Dupree*, 319 S.C. 454, 457, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995)). “Abandonment is a question of intent and exists only if property has been voluntarily discarded under circumstances indicating no

future expectation of privacy with regard to it.” *Id.* at 529, 815 S.E.2d at 766 (citing 68 Am. Jur. 2d *Searches and Seizures* § 23, at 135 (2010) (C.J. Beatty, dissenting)).<sup>1</sup>

A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective, and thus, an individual must show “(1) he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable.” *Id.* at 526, 815 S.E.2d at 765 (citing *State v. Missouri*, 361 S.C. 107, 112, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004)). Moreover, in *Brown*, concerning the abandonment analysis, the question is “whether Brown could reasonably expect to maintain any privacy interest in his phone after he chose to cancel cellular service and stop looking for it.” *Id.* at 527, 815 S.E.2d at 765. In any event, modern cellphones “differ in both a quantitative and a qualitative sense from other objects,” which is an important factor to be considered in any abandonment analysis. *Id.* at 528, 815 S.E.2d at 766.

In petitioner’s case, the PCR court erred by denying relief as trial counsel was deficient for failing to challenge the state’s evidence obtained from the extraction of his iPhone 4<sup>2</sup> because law enforcement did not procure a search warrant to extract the contents of his cellphone. Particularly, trial counsel testified that he did not review the search warrants in petitioner’s case and did not do anything with the search warrants. App. 746, ll. 11-16; 750, ll. 22-23; 750, l. 24 –

---

<sup>1</sup> Chief Justice Beatty also outlines in his dissent that *Riley* created a categorical rule that, absent exigent circumstances, law enforcement must procure a search warrant before searching the data content of a cellphone. *Id.* at 530-31, 815 S.E.2d at 767 (C.J. Beatty, dissenting).

<sup>2</sup> For clarity, the PCR court is correct that the cellphone seized at the detention center was not the cellphone that was ultimately extracted. App. 793. The cellphone seized at the detention center was a white iPhone 5 recovered from petitioner’s person that was entered as State’s Exhibit 11 during petitioner’s trial. App. 218, l. 9 – 219, l. 14; 518; ll. 3-9. The cellphone upon which law enforcement conducted an extraction was an iPhone 4 that was recovered from the center console of a blue Jeep during the execution of a search warrant for the car. App. 317, l. 18 – 318, l. 7; 353, ll. 17-24; 354, ll. 10-17. The result of the extraction, as relevant, were various web searches. App. 319, l. 16 – 320, l. 22. The black iPhone 4 was entered as State’s Exhibit 12 during petitioner’s trial. App. 354, l. 18 – 355, l. 4; 357, ll. 3-11.

751, l. 4. Petitioner presented evidence from Jody Black, a retired law enforcement officer who reviewed the records in petitioner's case, that law enforcement obtained a "broad-spectrum" search warrant for a car, certain other items, and a phone. App. 729, ll. 9-12. There was no information specific to a cellphone to extract information in this case, and there was not any record that the state had requested permission from the court to extract the information from the cellphone itself. App. 729, ll. 23-25; 730, ll. 8-11. Although the PCR court concluded that it was left to speculate whether the warrants were sufficient for extraction because they were not entered, such a finding ignores the evidence presented from Black concerning the contents of the search warrants. App. 794; 729, ll. 23-25; 730, ll. 8-11. By failing to review the search warrants in petitioner's case, trial counsel overlooked that law enforcement did not seek permission to conduct a search that extracted the contents from petitioner's cellphone. Thus, trial counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below reasonable professional norms. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686.

Moreover, the PCR court relies upon *State v. Moore*, 429 S.C. 465, 839 S.E.2d 882 (2020),<sup>3</sup> however petitioner's case is distinguishable from the limited warrantless search of a SIM card addressed in *Moore*. App. 795. In *Moore*, our Supreme Court held that law enforcement's identification of the number assigned to a flip phone by examining the SIM card was reasonable and did not violate the Fourth Amendment. 429 S.C. at 477-78, 839 S.E.2d at 889.<sup>4</sup> The PCR court's reliance on *Moore* is misplaced because its limited holding has little to

---

<sup>3</sup> In addition, a Texas court noted that "at least one state supreme court has determined that a limited search of a SIM card to establish ownership is wholly distinct from examining a phone's contents." *Martinez v. State*, 689 S.W.3d 30, 41 (Tex. App. Fort Worth 2024) (citing *Moore*, 429 S.C. at 472, 839 S.E.2d at 886).

<sup>4</sup> The *Moore* court also held that, even accepting the argument advanced by Moore, there are several exceptions to the exclusionary rule, including independent source doctrine, inevitable

no bearing on petitioner's case. App. 795. Importantly, the extraction of petitioner's cellphone far exceeded the limited warrantless search of Moore's SIM card to establish the ownership of the phone. *Moore*, 429 S.C. at 472-73, 839 S.E.2d at 886. Instead of a search confined to the ownership of petitioner's phone, law enforcement went several steps further. In petitioner's case, law enforcement conducted a Cellebrite extraction for the contents of his cellphone. App. 360, l. 25 – 362, l. 1; 365, l. 11. Perhaps most offensively, law enforcement conducted the extensive search of petitioner's cellphone without a warrant, while the officers in *Moore* obtained a subsequent search warrant for the contents of Moore's flip phone once it was identified as his. *Moore*, 429 S.C. at 476, 839 S.E.2d at 888. In fact, the key distinction in *Moore* to determine that the Fourth Amendment had not violated was that law enforcement's search was of only the phone's SIM card "*not the contents of the phone.*" *Id.* (emphasis in original). Therefore, given that the warrantless search of petitioner's cellphone far exceeds the type of search permissible under the Fourth Amendment, as discussed by our Supreme Court in *Moore*, it cannot be said that *Moore*'s holding has any application to petitioner's case.<sup>5</sup> *See id.*; *see also German*, 439 S.C. at 461, 887 S.E.2d at 918.

The PCR court also erred by determining that petitioner abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy in his iPhone 4. App. 794. The question is whether, in discarding the

---

discovery, and the good-faith exception, all of which our Supreme Court determined applied to the instant case. 429 S.C. at 478, 839 S.E.2d at 889.

<sup>5</sup> In addition, Chief Justice Beatty recognized in his dissent that Moore had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his SIM card because, in his view, there is no distinction between the digital contents of a SIM card and the full contents of a cellphone. *Moore*, 429 S.C. at 487, 839 S.E.2d at 893 (C.J. Beatty, dissenting). Moreover, Justice Beatty highlighted that the search of the SIM card was anything but limited because it recovered the cellphone number, thirty-four contact entries, and three text messages. *Id.* at 487-88, 839 S.E.2d at 893-94. Against this backdrop, there is no argument to be made that the forensic examination and extraction of petitioner's cellphone, which revealed a variety of digital contents to which petitioner had a reasonable expectation of privacy, including his web searches, comported with the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.

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