RECEIVED

May 29 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Trial Judge
Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001319

JERALD J. HOWARD, #380868,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW, II
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 105228

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
803-734-3737

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court correctly determined Petitioner failed to establish Trial Counsel's representation was deficient or establish the requisite prejudice necessary to reverse his conviction and grant him a new trial based on the failure to move to suppress or object to evidence obtained from the forensic extraction of an iPhone 4 where (1) it was lawfully seized pursuant to a valid vehicle search warrant, (2) Petitioner abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy in the device, and (3) the extraction occurred months before Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (2014).

On appeal, Petitioner contends that the post-conviction relief court erred in failing to find Trial Counsel's performance deficient and resulting prejudice where Trial Counsel failed to move to suppress or object to the warrantless extraction of Petitioner's cellphone as a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. However, Petitioner wholly ignores the post-conviction relief court's dispositive findings that are amply supported by the record. First, the post-conviction relief court found that the iPhone 4 was lawfully seized pursuant to a valid vehicle search warrant and that Petitioner failed to prove any violation of the Fourth Amendment. (App'x pp. 793–94). Second, it expressly held that Petitioner abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy in the device when he told investigators "the screen was cracked and it must be in the trash." (App'x p. 794). Third, the court correctly noted that the Cellebrite extraction occurred on March 27, 2014, nearly three months *before* Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (2014), and that law enforcement acted in good faith because the law was unsettled at the time. (App'x p. 795) Each of these findings is correct, well-supported, and fatal to Petitioner's claim. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

A. Trial Counsel Was Not Deficient for Failing to File a Meritless Suppression Motion Where the iPhone 4 Was Lawfully Seized Pursuant to a Valid Vehicle Search Warrant

The black iPhone 4 was recovered from the center console of Petitioner's Jeep Cherokee during the execution of a search warrant specifically authorizing search of that vehicle. (App'x

pp. 353–54; 308). South Carolina and federal law have long recognized that a warrant to search a vehicle includes authority to search containers and items inside it that can conceal the objects of the search. See United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 825 (1982) ("If probable cause justifies the search of a lawfully stopped vehicle, it justifies the search of every part of the vehicle and its contents that may conceal the object of the search."); State v. Brown, 423 S.C. 519, 815 S.E.2d 761 (2018) (applying the same principles under South Carolina law). Simply put, no separate warrant for the phone was required at the time of seizure.

Additionally, Petitioner's expert Jody Black offered only generalized opinion testimony that the warrant was "broad-spectrum" and lacked "specific" language for cellphone extraction. (App'x pp. 729–30). Critically, neither the vehicle warrant nor any related documents were introduced at the post-conviction relief hearing. (App'x p. 794). The post-conviction relief court was "left to speculate about whether the warrants were sufficient." Id.; see Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief.).

Notably, at the evidentiary hearing, Trial Counsel testified that he reviewed the search warrants in the case and saw "no big red flag." (App'x p. 750). Trial Counsel made a reasonable strategic decision not to focus on the warrants because "it wasn't the focus of [his] case." (App'x p. 750). The post-conviction relief court implicitly credited this testimony when it found no deficiency. (App'x pp. 794–95). Trial Counsel's performance easily satisfied the strong presumption of competence. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Petitioner's claim that counsel should have filed a suppression motion, which the post-conviction relief court correctly determined would have failed, is meritless. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

Even assuming *arguendo* that Trial Counsel performed deficiently by failing to challenge the cellphone extraction, which he did not, Petitioner cannot establish the requisite prejudice under Strickland. The post-conviction relief court expressly held that Petitioner "failed to show a reasonable probability the outcome would have been different if counsel challenged the cellphone extraction" (App'x p. 795), and that finding is correct and fully supported by the overwhelming evidence of guilt that was completely independent of the Google searches recovered from the iPhone 4.

The State presented powerful DNA evidence that directly linked Petitioner to the crime scene. Paul Meeh, the SLED forensic scientist, testified that Petitioner's DNA was the major contributor to a mixture found on the master-bath sink counter, with a random match probability of approximately 1 in 15 quadrillion. (App'x pp. 503–04). Petitioner's DNA also could not be excluded as a possible minor contributor to a mixture on blood-stained carpet cuttings from the master bedroom near the master bath doorway. (App'x pp. 506–07). The Victim's blood was present on those same carpet cuttings. Id. Other family members were excluded as contributors to these mixtures. This DNA evidence alone placed Petitioner at the scene where the Victim was last seen alive and where blood was found. (App'x pp. 503–07).

In addition, cell-phone records, derived from subpoenaed carrier data and FBI triangulation, not the Cellebrite extraction, showed that both phones registered to Petitioner pinged together as they traveled from the Upstate to the Berkeley County/Lowcountry area before and after the Victim's disappearance. At the evidentiary hearing, this very fact was conceded by Petitioner and Trial Counsel through their testimony. (App'x pp. 721–22; 761).

The State also presented extensive evidence of Petitioner's inconsistent statements, financial misconduct, and suspicious conduct in the days and weeks surrounding the

disappearance. Lieutenant William Gary detailed multiple lies Petitioner told investigators about when he last saw the Victim, where her phone was, and his own movements. (App'x pp. 295–308). Sergeant Tracy Moss and Lieutenant Gary testified about forged checks from the Victim's account, unauthorized use of her debit card, which Petitioner was caught on video using at a gas station, and excessive mileage on rental cars that contradicted Petitioner's claim that he never left Spartanburg. (App'x pp. 193–96; 302–04). These pieces of circumstantial evidence, combined with the DNA and cell-phone pings, formed a compelling mosaic of guilt.

Furthermore, the State never claimed that the Google searches recovered from the iPhone 4 were the sole or even the primary evidence against Petitioner. To the contrary, the prosecutor described the entire case as "a circumstantial evidence case." (App'x p. 574). Suppression of one powerful but non-essential piece of evidence, the web browser history, would not have created a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117–18 (1989). The post-conviction relief court's prejudice determination is correct and well-supported by the record. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

B. Petitioner Abandoned Any Reasonable Expectation of Privacy in the iPhone 4

Even assuming *arguendo* that there was an issue with the extraction, Petitioner explicitly disclaimed any interest in the device. Petitioner told Investigator Gary the phone was cracked and "must be in the trash." (App'x p. 308). The post-conviction relief court expressly found that "Petitioner abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy on the iPhone 4 due to his statement to police that the screen was cracked, and it must be in the trash." (App'x p. 794). This finding is fully supported by the record and is correct as a matter of law.

Under State v. Brown, 423 S.C. at 522, 815 S.E.2d at 763, abandonment is a question of intent: whether the defendant voluntarily discarded the property under circumstances indicating

no future expectation of privacy with regard to it. The question is both subjective and objective: whether the defendant manifested an intent to relinquish his reasonable expectation of privacy. Id. at 526–27, 815 S.E.2d at 765. Here, Petitioner's affirmative statement to law enforcement during an interview in which he was already a suspect clearly demonstrated both a subjective intent to abandon the phone and an objective relinquishment of any privacy interest society would recognize. Id.; see also State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 457, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995) (generally distinguishing the differences "between abandonment in the property-law sense and abandonment in the constitutional sense. . .").

Ultimately, the fact that the phone was found in the center console of the Jeep Petitioner was driving does not undo the abandonment. Petitioner had already told police he no longer possessed or wanted the device; he had no reasonable expectation that it would remain private once he disclaimed ownership. See Brown, 423 S.C. at 527–28, 815 S.E.2d at 765 (rejecting similar privacy claims where the defendant had taken affirmative steps to distance himself from the cellphone). The post-conviction relief court correctly applied Brown and rejected Petitioner's attempt to distinguish the case. (App'x p. 794). Modern cellphones do not automatically receive heightened protection once their owners have voluntarily abandoned them. Thus, Petitioner's argument that he retained a reasonable expectation of privacy despite his explicit disclaimer is contrary to established law and the post-conviction relief court's well-supported factual finding. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

C. The Extraction Occurred Pre-Riley; Good-Faith Reliance Applies

The Cellebrite extraction performed by Investigator Lindsey McGraw on March 27, 2014, was a full forensic extraction of the iPhone 4 that recovered the phone's web browser history and other digital data. (App'x pp. 360–62). The post-conviction relief court expressly acknowledged

this fact yet still correctly held, citing State v. Moore, 429 S.C. 465, 483, 839 S.E.2d 882, 891 (2020), that "McGraw acted in good faith because the law was far from settled as to the necessity of obtaining a warrant to search a cell phone." (App'x p. 795).

At the time of the extraction, nearly three months *before* Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (June 25, 2014), there was no clearly established constitutional requirement for a separate warrant to conduct a forensic search of the digital contents of a cellphone lawfully seized pursuant to a vehicle search warrant. Even Moore itself upheld a warrantless examination of a cellphone's SIM card to establish ownership, a search far more limited in scope than the full Cellebrite extraction here. Moore, at 477–78, 839 S.E.2d at 888–89. The post-conviction relief court correctly recognized that the law's unsettled state at the time fully supported good-faith reliance by law enforcement. (App'x p. 795).

Petitioner's attempt to distinguish Moore on the ground that the extraction here was "full" rather than limited misses the point. The relevant inquiry is not the breadth of the search performed, but whether officers could reasonably believe their conduct was lawful under the law as it existed in March 2014. The post-conviction relief court properly concluded they could. (App'x p. 795). Moreover, the iPhone 4 was not searched incident to arrest; it was seized from the center console of Petitioner's Jeep pursuant to a valid vehicle warrant. (App'x pp. 353–54). The pre-Riley timing, combined with the vehicle-warrant context and the unsettled state of cellphone-search jurisprudence, fully supports the post-conviction relief court's good-faith determination. The post-conviction relief court did not err in rejecting Petitioner's Fourth Amendment claim on this basis. Accordingly, this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION